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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

Wilton, a Randolph family house which formerly stood near the James River in Henrico 
County, a few miles below Richmond, was removed to Richmond's West End in 1933 under the 
auspices of the National Society of Colonial Dames of America in the Commonwealth of 
Virginia and under the direction of Herbert Claiborne, prominent contractor and restora­
tion consultant. It now occupies a terraced site which slopes down to a precipice. 
above the James. 

Wilton is a large, two-story, five-bay house with a shallow hipped roof, a modillion 
cornice, and four tall interior end chimneys. Built of brick laid in Flemish bond 
above and below the molded water table, it is decorated with rubbed-brick jack arches 
and belt course and with maximum rubbing at the corners artd around all the doors and 
windows. Nine-over-nine sash, some of which are original, light the house, and the 
entrances are framed by handsome pedimented frontispiece doorways having architrave 
frames flanked by Ionic pilasters supporting the pediment and its pulvinated frieze. 
Only the south frontispiece is original; the other is mostly a reproduction. This 
particular treatment of the entrances is very rare for colonial Virginia houses. 

Wilton has the familiar central-passage, double-pile Georgian plan. Like Westover, the 
paszage is slightly off-center, making the east rooms smaller than the west. The broad 
passage accommodatesa handsome walnut left-to-right, triple-run stair with an open­
string, elaborate sawn brackets, turned balusters, and a molded handrail ramped and eased 
at the landings. 

Wilton's chief distinction lies in its being the only completely paneled house in Vir­
ginia. Throughout the entire dwelling, including the closets, the walls are sheathed 
in a handsome, though somewhat dry and predictable pattern of vertical raised panels 
above and below a molded chair rail. 

The parlor (northwest room) is the most elaborate in the house. Here the paneling is 
accentuated by fluted Roman Doric pilasters framing the doom and windows and by an 
elaborate chimney-wall treatment. The fireplace is flanked by arched recesses, each 
lit by a window. The arches spring from molded impost blocks following a plate in 
William Salmon's Palladio Londinensis and are surmounted by molded keystones. Fluted 
pilasters flank the arches which also feature raised spandrel panels. The chimney 
breasts have the familiar ovennantel pattern of a large central panel, slightly taller 
than it is wide, with a tall, narrow panel to either side, all three being underscored 
by a row of ·three diminutive panels beneath them. The surround is of light gray marble, 
with an incised keystone and a scrolled soffit. A <lentil cornice with a pulvinated 
frieze is carried around the room and broken out over all the pilasters and tLe key­
stones of the chimney recesses. 

Behind the parlor is the dining room. Smaller than the parlor, it is also plainer. It 
has a similar cornice, and fluted Roman Doric pilasters frame the ovennantel. The 
marble surround, too, is like that in the parlor, but the overmantel panel arrangement 
consists of a single broad panel over a single shorter one. The window recesses have 
5quarc heads and plain architrave frames. 

The northeast room is the library. The pilasters are more attenuated than in the 
previously mentioned rooms. The overmantel is like that in the dining room, and the 
white marble surround is very plain. The cornice is molded and less bold tl1an those 

(see Continuation Sheet #2) 
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in the other principal rooms. Instead of window recesses on either side of the chimney 
breast, there is a closet to the left and a small vestibule to the right, from which a 
door leads to the outside and another to the southeast (bed) room. 

No pilasters are used in this bedroom, and the cornice is a modest one. The marble sur­
round resembles that in the library. The overmantel consists of a broad panel, with 
narrow ones to either side and a single panel the width of the fireplace below them. 
To the left of the chimney breast is the door to the vestibule, to the right is a closet. 
In the southeast corner is a closed-string stair with turned balusters, which leads to 
the nursery above. 

All of the second-floor bedrooms are decorated in a similar manner, with plain paneling, 
inconspicuous molded cornices, and overmantels like that in the first-floor bedroom. 
All have dark grey marble surrounds; two of these have incised keystones in them, the 
other two have central medallions instead. 

Except for the stair in the southeast bedroom on the ground floor, which is restored 
from memory, Wilton's interiors are original. It also retains its original doors and 
many of its locks and hinges. There are no early outbuildings. 

Supervised by Herbert Claiborne, Wilton's moving in 1933 was accomplished with the 
greatest caution. Especial care was exercised with the brickwork, and important sections, 
like the rubbed and gauged jack arches, were moved intact. 
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Wilton, moved to its present location from its original site in Henrico county on the 
banks of the James River several miles below Richmond, is one of the most significant 
of the James River plantation mansions. Associated with the Randolphs, a family 
prominent in colonial Virginia a_ffairs, and especially with :Peyton Randolph, it is one 
of an important group of mid-eighteenth-century houses related by plan or detail, which 
includes Westover, Elsing Green, and the Nelson House. It is the only known fully 
paneled house in Virginia. 

The Randolphs had played an important part in Virginia life since their arrival and 
settlement at Turkey Island in Henrico County in the 1640s. In 1750-53, William Randolph 
III built the house at Wilton which, although differing in detail, shares its plan and 
dimensions with nearby Westover, build about twenty years earlier. 

Randolph's son Peyton was the second, and most note~ owner. O!arried to Lucy Harrison, 
daughter of Benjamin Harrison of Berkeley, later a signer of the Declaration of Indepen­
de~~e, Peyton Randolph was a key figure in early Revolutionary politics in Virginia. 
When the offices of Treasurer and Speaker of the House of Burgesses were separated in 
the 1760's following the scandal over the extensive embezzlements of the late Speaker, 
John Robinson, Randolph was appointed Speaker, remaining in that post until his death. 
He was, in the words .of one sc]:iolar, "president of every important Revolutionary as­
semblage in Virginia," including one of the first, the informal meeting at Raleigh 
Tavern in Williamsburg_ in 1767 which forged the non-importation agreements. An instiga­
tor of the First-Vi:rginia Cc,nvention in 1775, he was its chairman. Ultimately, he was 
unani.nously elected president of the First Continental Congress and was elected again 
to the presidency of the Second but declined so that he might fulfill his Speaker's 
duties in Virginia. He did serve as a delegate, however, and while doing so, died in 
Philadelphia in 1775] 

After his death, Wilton was owned by Peyton Randolph's daughters, who in the mid-nine­
teenth century sold it to Col. William Carter Knight. At the time of its moving, Wilton 
was unoccupied. 
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